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Rogiet Poorland (or Poor Land).   ST 453 883
Rogiet Poorland is an area of 3.7 acres lying in the parishes of Rogiet and Llanfihangel Rogiet.  ‘Poorland’ refers to the land set aside for the use of the ‘labouring poor’ in 1855, at the time of the enclosure of Minnets Common.  The name ‘Rogiet’ or ‘Roggiet’ appears in documents going back at least to the 13th century.
  It has been generally thought that ‘Rog’ refers to a shortened version of the name ‘Roger’ and that ‘(g)iet’ is from the old English word ‘gaet’ for ‘gate’, but Richard Morgan has suggested the origin of the name is probably ‘gate for roe-deer’, from the Old English rā and geat as in the case of Rogate
.   Llanfihangel means the ‘Church of St Michael’.  ‘Minnets’ appears to be a corruption of  the Welsh word mynydd for ‘mountain’, though in Gwent this term is sometimes used for a modest hill or exposed heath.
 
The Geology
Rogiet Poorland lies on raised ground near the edge of the Gwent Levels between Caldicot and Magor.  The entire reserve is on Drybrook Limestone sloping to the south.

The Archaeology
A survey by the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust in 2000 AD recorded a group of flints flakes found nearby (ST 454 884).  These included a leaf shaped arrowhead probably dating to the Neolithic period (circa 4,000 – 2,400 BC).
  Apart from that there are no records directly relating to the reserve.  However the fen edge is an area where early activity and settlement was likely.  The dry conditions and thin soil do not allow for the survival of the type of discoveries made in the peat or alluvial clay of the Levels, but it is possible to infer evidence of human activity from discoveries made elsewhere. In 1908 human remains were discovered in a limestone quarry at Ifton, about one mile east of the reserve.   They had been deliberately placed on a ledge in a cave that was completely obliterated by the quarrying. Radio-carbon dating of the bones show that were buried between 2,400 and 2,160 B.C. during the Late Neolithic or Early Bronze Age.
  There is also a standing stone west of Llanfihangel Rogiet (ST 445 877), known traditionally as the “Devil’s Quoit”. A Romano-British roadside settlement is known a little south-east of the reserve. This was found prior to a housing development in 1996. (ST 456 877). A substantial building, at least 18 metres long, was discovered there in association with mainly second century pottery.  A hoard of late third century coins were found nearby.
  The closeness to the Roman town of Caerwent, and a Roman settlement and pottery kilns at Caldicot, show that there was considerable activity during this period.  

A raised area to the west of the reserve is called Turkey Tump.  A ‘tump’ is a term for a small hill but sometimes is used as a name for a tumulus or burial mound.  However there is no evidence that Turkey Tump is anything other than a natural feature. There also appears to have been a quarry on the reserve, later used as a refuse-dump.   
The Early History of Rogiet
Rogiet lies within the Hundred of Caldicot, a division of the County of Monmouth created in 1536 out of the Marcher lordships which largely controlled South Wales after the Norman Conquest.  It is recorded that Godfrey de Gamage, who came over with the Norman Conquest, owned Rogiet
.  His descendant, Robert de Gamage, is mentioned in a survey of 1270/1271 of Wentwood Forest for Roger Bigod, Earl Marshal and Lord of Chepstow. Robert is confirmed as having had the right of ‘housebote’ and ‘heybote’ for his house at Roggiatt, as has been enjoyed by his ancestors.
  ‘Housebote’ was the right to take wood for making and repairing buildings and ‘heybote’ was the right to take wood for fences. Robert de Gamage obtained ownership of the manor of Llanfihangel Rogiet by marriage, and the two manors continued with the Gamage descendents until 1583, when they passed to the family of Lewis of Van.  In 1675 the manors of Rogiet and Llanfihangel were purchased by William Morgan of Tredegar House.
   
The earliest reference to Lanfihangel appears to be in the 10th. Century when, Brochwael, king of Gwent granted the village, then known as ‘Tref Peren’, to the Bishop of Llandaff.

The physical closeness of the two parishes is reflected in the shared ownership and use of common land. The Rogiet Poorland reserve is inside the southern end of what was once a large common of over 51 acres known as Minnets Common. The boundary of the two parishes went through the middle of Minnets Common and this boundary goes through the middle of the Rogiet Poorland reserve. Minnets Common formed a long wedge of land between Thicket Wood and Slade Wood (to the north of the reserve), the top end of the Common reaching as far as Hardwick Farm.  Most of the Common is now part of Slade Wood but the name is still retained in a property called “The Minnetts” to the north of Thickets Wood.  Mynetts is mentioned in a survey of the adjoining manor of Caldicot in 1613.
 A wood called The Thicket is recorded in a deed of 1602.
 
A survey carried out in 1650/1651 in the Manor of Rogiet of land owned by Lady Ann Beauchamp records that tenants had “all manner of cattle without number and also that they have a free common called Muenith Hellin between the lordship of Rogiet and the lordship of Llanfihangel”.
  Probates of the wills of tenants in Llanfihangel also show that the all but the poorest had cattle of some kind.
 
Minnets Common was an area of common pasture land sometimes referred to as moor. The term ‘moor’ is still in use locally, especially on the Levels, but the name is also retained in the name Highmoor to the north west of Slade Wood. Cattle were driven along tracks onto the common for summer grazing.
Whilst there are no buildings on the reserve there is an excellent view of the remains of Rogiet windmill. Rogiet windmill is on ‘Windmill Tump’ to the south east of the reserve (ST 454 882). The windmill is now a ruined stone tower, about four metres high. Windmills are rare in Monmouthshire and the first stone tower windmills appear to have replaced wooden “post mills” in the 15th and early 16th century. A deed of 1526 refers to Rogiet windmill.
  
At one time Llanfihangel Rogiet appears to have had its own windmill as there are references in the 16th and 17th century to a “mill motte” in the parish.  The site is unknown, but presumably this mill became redundant because of the closeness of the Rogiet mill and because there was the same Lord of the Manor for both parishes.  In any event Llanfihangel parishioners would have taken their corn to Rogiet Mill.
  There appear to be no records as to when Rogiet Mill stopped being used, but a survey of 1710 refers to “Windmill Lane” and “Windmill Tump” with no record or any tenant or payment.

The two parish churches are surprisingly close to each other, and both were impressive buildings at the centre of ‘nucleated’ villages.  That is, unlike many other villages in Gwent, Rogiet and Llanfihangel Rogiet was each a cluster of houses around the church. Many other Welsh villages were scattered or ‘dispersed’ settlements, or alternatively houses strung out along a road and known as ‘linear’ settlements.   St Mary’s at Rogiet has a tall tower, visible from all around, and the church has a number of late medieval features.  It was originally dedicated to St Hilary, and this is mentioned in a will of 1527.
  Llanfihangel Rogiet Church was dedicated to St. Michael, but it is now disused and is accessible through a farmyard. St Michael’s tower is late medieval and was built on an impressive scale compared to the rest of the church.  It was one of a group of three churches in the area, with Rogiet and Ifton Church (which was less than a mile east of Rogiet and was pulled down in circa 1755).  In the Middle Ages prosperity (created by the high value of wool) enabled even a small manor to have its own church.  Llanfihangel Church also has a fine 13th century effigy of Anne Martel, wife of John Martel, then Lord of the Manor.

The village of Llanfihangel Rogiet has now virtually disappeared, but it was still a substantial village in the 17th century. In 1651 there were 28 houses.  However between 1711 and 1766 many of the tenants, holding land by a system called copyhold, died. These were replaced by leaseholders with more limited rights, and many of the previous tenancies were lumped together to form larger units.
 
Rogiet Poorland was created as a direct result of the enclosure of Minnets Common in 1855.  In the 18th and 19th centuries there was a great move towards enclosing common lands and splitting up the open ground into smaller privately owned units. In 1794 John Fox reported on the state of agriculture in the County of Monmouth.  He reported that “there many commons, some with extensive tracts, that might be converted into fine arable and pasture land if they were enclosed, and become much more beneficial, being at present in a state of nature”.
  
The Lord of the Manor was Sir Charles Morgan and he was awarded over 46 acres of the Minnets and smaller Rogiet Common (to the west of the village). This was the major part of the Commons and as the chief beneficiary he took on the considerable cost of fencing and putting in access roads.  Some of the common land was sold to him so that the money could be used for this work.  
However it was also agreed to “award the Church Wardens and Overseers (of the Poor) of the Parishes of Rogiett and Llanvihangel juxta Rogiett in equal moieties, all that piece and parcel of land numbered 14 on the map, containing four acres, to be held by them respectively and their successors in trust, as an allotment for the Labouring Poor of the said Parishes, subject never the less to and chargeable with a clear Rent Charge of two Pounds, which said sum does not exceed the net annual value of the said allotment in its present condition.”  
This award was necessary since the common rights of ordinary people had been taken away from them with the Enclosure. It appears that the £2 rent charge was compensation to the Lord of the Manor (Sir Charles Morgan) for the rights he would no longer have.
The first mention of the Poorland found in the parish records was at a meeting held on 28 March 1899. Three tenants, Messrs James, Harris and Edwards were asked for rent of land occupied by them.  In 1910 it emerged that in fact no rent had been paid by any of the tenants since 1859, and the rent charge to the Lord of the Manor (the Tredegar Estate) had not been paid since 1883. It also appeared that many of the tenancies occupied on the Poorland had been transferred without any authority or approval of the Overseers.  There was concern that because the rent charge to the Tredegar Estate had not been paid that the parishes could lose the Poorland.
As a result a small committee was set up to act as wardens of the Poorland allotments.
It was agreed that each existing tenant should pay five shillings a year for his holding.  The Committee evidently put matters on a sound footing, but it was some time before the rent charges were again fully paid to the Tredegar Estate. In 1920 there were only four allotment tenants and the rent forwarded to the Tredegar Estate was one pound and three shillings.  The Poorland itself was evidently used for both pasture and arable purposes, as well having an area of woodland used for coppicing.
Very little else happened until 1931 when it was decided to use part of the Poorland as a refuse-dump. A scheme for house collection of rubbish had been set up and the lower area of the Poorland on the east of the reserve was considered suitable for the dump.  A letter from the Tredegar Estate Agent raised no objection, but interestingly referred to the area as the “old quarry”. 
The Poorland appears to have been under utilised and at one time had a gypsy encampment on it.  In 1951 it was noted that the rent charge had again not been paid since 1937. In 1956 timber was sold off on the land by Rogiet Parish Council for £25 and the land reverted to pasture.  In 1957 the Tredegar Estate sold most of its agricultural land to the Eagle Star Insurance Company.  The sale included the rent charges on the Poorland and Eagle Star sold on these rent charges to Mr R. Anstey who was already leasing the Poorland.  In 1961 there was considerable discussion as to who actually owned the Poorland
.   In 1966 the new M4 motorway (to the first Severn Crossing) cut the village of Rogiet off from the Poorland, and a new tunnel was built under the motorway for access between the two sides of the road. 
When the Trust considered buying the reserve in 1985 it was stated that the owners were Rogiet Community Council and Llanfihangel Rogiet Community Council.  However as the latter no longer existed there was no official body to dispose of the site until the 1986 elections.
  In 1991 an appeal for funds paid off when Whitbread’s Magor Brewery donated £3,000 to the Wildlife Trust towards the cost of purchasing the land.  
Recommendations

The management of the reserve, particularly the maintenance of the limestone grassland, does not seem to be any threat to the archaeology or historical heritage of the site.  Any future alterations to the site should be recorded and the date of alterations noted.  The former rubbish-dump may be of some interest to bottle collectors and the like, and any features relating to the earlier quarry should be noted.
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